IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC05-667 LOWER TRIBUNAL CASE NO. 5D03-1968

NOEL THOMAS PATTON, *et al.*, Plaintiffs/Appellants/Petitioners,

v.

KERA TECHNOLOGY, INC., *et al.*, Defendants/Appellees/Respondents.

DISCRETIONARY PROCEEDING TO REVIEW DECISION OF 5TH DCA CASE NO. 5D03-1968

PETITIONERS' AMENDED BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

Kenneth L. Mann, of KENNETH L. MANN, P.A. Fla. Bar No. 163585 120 E. Robinson Street P. O. Box 551 Orlando, FL 32802-0551 Telephone: 407/422-0006 Telefax: 407/422-1444 COUNSEL FOR PETITIONERS

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The petitioners/plaintiffs seek discretionary review of the decision rendered by the 5th DCA on March 17, 2005 in *Patton v. Kera Technology, Inc.*, 895 So.2d 1175 (Fla. 5th DCA 2005)("the bwer court decision"). A true copy of the lower court order transmitting the corrected decision and a true copy of the corrected decision as electronically published are in the Appendix filed herein.

The lower court decision affirmed the trial court's dismissal of the petitioners'/plaintiffs' action against the respondents/defendants for lack of prosecution ("LOP dismissal") under Florida Rules of Civil Procedure 1.420(e). The petitioners timely filed a notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction on April 15, 2005, and an amended notice on April 18, 2005, pursuant to Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A) and 9.120. The amended notice corrected a typographical error on the rendition date, from March 18, 2005 to March 17, 2005. As elaborated upon below, the petitioners contend this Court has discretionary jurisdiction because the lower court decision expressly construes the due process clause of the Florida and/or Federal Constitutions, and expressly and directly conflicts with decisions of other district courts of appeal and with one or more decisions of this Court on the same question of law - - namely, who has the ultimate responsibility for managing the trial court's docket - - the bench or the bar -- with respect to outstanding pleadings and motions of record?

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The petitioners adopt the facts recited in the lower court opinion, as clarified and elaborated upon herein. The respondents filed LOP dismissal motions in the summer of 2002. However, the service of these motions, as well as service of the notices of hearing thereon, as well as service of the trial court's August, 2002 LOP dismissal orders, were all found by the trial court and by the 5th DCA to violate the petitioners' constitutional right of due process because of the combination of the following: (a) the respondents failed to serve the plaintiffs'/petitioners' Atlanta cocounsel of record with their motions, their notices of hearing and the LOP dismissal orders; and (b) the absence of actual knowledge by the plaintiffs/petitioners of the summer 2002 LOP dismissal proceedings because their then-lead counsel, Terry Len McCollough had abandoned them without their knowledge, had never notified them of the LOP proceedings, and before abandoning them, had lied to them about having filed a brief with the trial court subsequent to and in connection with a July 9, 2001 hearing that had been held on the defendants' substantive motions to dismiss and strike the plaintiffs' amended complaint.¹ It is unclear whether or to what extent McCollough was also lying with respect to his claims shortly after the July 9, 2001 hearing and in a phone

¹/This Court subsequently suspended, and shortly thereafter, disbarred McCollough. *See The Florida Bar v. McCollough, ##*s SC03-1695 (suspension) and SC03-2145 (disbarment), 879 So. 625 (Fla. 2004).

conversation in June 2002 [R. 281, 284, 290], that the trial court still had the matter under advisement. At the emergency hearing held on December 20, 2002, the initial trial judge indicated he had "absolutely no recollection" of what had occurred at the July 9, 2001 hearing [R. 209], and defense counsels' recollections were less than specific. [R. 211]

The lower court decision summarized all of the foregoing as follows:

The unrecorded July 9, 2001 hearing cannot shed light on the results of the hearing, and the parties disagree on whether the court issued a ruling at that time. *Even if we assume* that the trial judge *ruled* upon appellees' motion [*sic* - - should read "motions"] at the hearing, but did not instruct appellants to prepare an order, appellants' failure to take any affirmative action toward resolving the case for more than one year warrants dismissal. [Emphasis added.]

Appendix at 5.

Nowhere, however, does the lower court decision address the reverse assumption, *i.e.*, what if one assumes the trial judge *did not* rule upon *all of* the respondents' dispositive motions at the July 9, 2001 hearing? *I.e.*, what if McCollough's emails and June 2002 phone conversation alleging that the trial court had reserved ruling were at least *partially* truthful? The lower court opinion does not address that the petitioners asserted therein (and they accordingly assert as a jurisdictional fact herein), that the "unfinished business" following the July 9, 2001 unrecorded, non-evidentiary, dispositive motions hearing, was not only the

absence of a written order on whatever rulings the trial court may have made, but the absence of clarity over whether the court had ruled on *all* issues at the July 9, 2001 hearing.

Even the respondents' Summer 2002 LOP dismissal motions themselves lacked preciseness as to what the trial court did on July 9, 2001. Respondent Simon's LOP dismissal motion merely recited that "the court ruled that plaintiffs' counsel was required to prepare and submit a proposed order on the motions to dismiss after the hearing. No order was ever prepared or submitted." [R. 137] But *whose* motions to dismiss? And what was the disposition of the motions to strike? The August 3, 2002 LOP dismissal motion by defendants Huang and Kera Technology was even more vague as to what occurred, and who, if anyone, was directed to do what:

¶ 1: Various motions to dismiss were heard by the Court on July 9, 2001. ¶ 2: It does not appear from the court file that any orders were submitted to or entered by the court, as a result of the hearing.

[R. 139] Following briefing by counsel of the due process issue, the trial court held a hearing on February 12, 2003 [R. 182J], at which time the trial court announced that the Summer 2002 LOP dismissal orders would be quashed for denial of due process. The order thereon was entered February 25, 2003 and filed February 26, 2003. [R. 266-267] In the interim, petitioners had promptly filed on February 13, 2003 the deposition transcript of Huang [R. 251 *et seq.*] and

coordinated and scheduled re-argument on the defendants' 2001 substantive motions, in view of: (a) the February 12th ruling that the LOP dismissal orders were quashed; and (b) as noted above, the original trial judge had no recollection of what had transpired at the July 9, 2001 substantive motion hearing. On February 17, 2003, after coordinating the date and time availability with opposing counsel and the successor judge's office, petitioners' counsel served a notice of hearing (filed on February 19, 2003), for a one hour hearing on April 3, 2003 for reargument of the respondents' dispositive 2001 motions to dismiss and strike. [R. 265] The lower court opinion does not explicitly refer to this notice of hearing, nor to the fact it preceded the service and filing of the respondents' resurrected² LOP motions. Presumably it was within the penumbra of the phrase *"inter alia"*, where the 5th DCA wrote:

Appellants timely filed a written response [to the respondents' resurrected LOP dismissal motions] [R. 271-273] asserting, *inter alia* that good cause existed to preclude dismissal because [Emphasis added.]

Appendix at 4.

The petitioners' response and objection to the resurrected LOP dismissal motions [R. 271-73] did expressly refer to the fact petitioners' own February 17,

²/Petitioners use the phrase "resurrected", because respondents did not prepare new LOP motions in February 2003, but simply served their Summer 2002 LOP motions with their new notices of hearing -- this time including petitioners' Atlanta co-counsel as recipients.

2003 (served)/ February 19, 2003 (filed) notice of hearing for April 3, 2003 had already been served and filed prior to the respondents' service and filing of the notice of hearing for their resurrected LOP dismissal motions. No notice of hearing (for March 10, 2003) on their resurrected LOP dismissal motions was filed until February 26, 2003, service of which was on February 25, 2003 [R. 267A-B].

The petitioners' timely response and objection to the resurrected LOP dismissal motions not only addressed the foregoing matters and applicable case law, but also suggested that since Florida Rules of Civil Procedure 1.420(e) expressly requires "reasonable notice" in addition to a sufficient period of record inactivity; and since the original 2002 LOP dismissal orders had been quashed for lack of due process notice; "it would be illogical to permit them to be resuscitated *nunc pro tunc.*" [R. 273] This too was not addressed in the lower court opinion --- unless encompassed and rejected within the "*inter alia*" language mentioned above.

SUMMARY OF JURISDICTIONAL ARGUMENT

The decision below expressly and directly conflicts with district court decisions from the 2^{nd} DCA, the 3^{rd} DCA and the 1^{st} DCA, as well as with this Court's decisions, all as elaborated upon below; and it expressly interpreted the due process clause of the Florida and/or U.S. Constitutions in the context of Rule 1.420(e). Thus, this Court clearly has discretionary jurisdiction. Petitioners urge

this Court to exercise that discretion in favor of a review on the merits herein, with or without consolidation with *Cosio v. Keithly, infra*, because it is imperative to clarify whether it is the bench or the bar who, ultimately, has the primary burden under Rule 1.420(e) of ensuring that dispositive motions get heard, that rulings get made after hearings, and that orders get entered after rulings. Once this Court accepts discretionary conflict jurisdiction, the petitioners respectfully submit that it can and should also decide whether Rule 1.420(e) may be properly used as a "gotcha" or whether defense counsel seeking to employ it must meticulously comply with its requirements - - including the implicit requirement that Rule 1.420(e) be read *in pari materia* with Florida Rules of Civil Procedure 1.080(a) -- such that improper or inadequate notice of LOP dismissal proceedings may vitiate and render a nullity *for all purposes* the filing of a LOP dismissal motion.

JURISDICTIONAL ARGUMENT

The lower court decision by the 5th DCA expressly relied on *Sewell Masonry Co. v. DCC Construction, Inc.*, 862 So.2d 893 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003), *review voluntarily dismissed*, 870 So.2d 823 (Fla. 2004). *Sewell*, in turn, had expressly certified conflict with *Dye v. Security Pacific Financial Services, Inc.*, 828 So.2d 1089 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002), which, in deeming it error to grant an LOP dismissal even where a dispositive motion has never been set for hearing, had relied on the 3rd DCA's decision in *Lukowsky v. Hauser & Metsch, P.A.*, 677 So. 2d 1383 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996), *review denied sub nom.*, 686 So.2d 578 (Fla. 1996), and on this Court's apparent approval thereof in *Fuster-Escalona v. Wisotsky*, 781 So.2d 1063 (Fla. 2000) Recently, *Cosio v. Keithly*, 889 So.2d 1017 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005) has aligned with *Sewell* and certified conflict with *Dye*. The parties in *Cosio v. Keithly*, Case No. SC 05-233. However, the case *sub judice* adds additional and more compelling arguments to the discussion on the proper contours and boundaries and equitable application of Rule 1.420(e). Moreover, as stated by this Court in *Ford Motor Co. v. Kikis*, 401 So.2d 1341, 1342 (Fla. 1981):

It is not necessary that a district court explicitly identify conflicting district court or supreme court decisions in its opinion in order to create an 'express' conflict under Section 3(b)(3) [of Article V of the Florida Constitution].

Besides relying on *Sewell, supra*, the lower court decision herein also relied in substantial part on *Dashew v. Marks*, 352 So.2d 554 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977).

In *Dashew*, the 3rd DCA held that where a trial judge *does* recall if and what he ruled, a plaintiff's counsel has the duty to see that an order gets entered within the one year period under Rule 1.420(e), even if counsel erroneously believed that defense counsel had been directed to prepare the order. However, in *Sarasota Cattle v. Mikos*, 431 So.2d 260, 261 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983), the 2d DCA observed that: "Although *Dashew* does lend some support to appellees' position, we do not necessarily agree with that view." 431 So.2d at 262. This Court subsequently affirmed *Sarasota Cattle*. *See Mikos v. Sarasota Cattle Co.*, 453 So.2d 402 (Fla. 1984). In doing so, this Court tacitly expressed disagreement with *Dashew* by its statement: "We agree *fully* with the decision below and therefore approve it." 453 So.2d at 403.[emphasis added] And, as if for additional emphasis, and despite the brevity of the total opinion, this Court stated yet again, "We agree with the decision below in *all* respects." *Id.* [Emphasis added] Admittedly, *Mikos* dealt with un-acted-upon notices for trial, rather than with dispositive motions that were argued and not fully concluded. However, *Dashew* also did not involve notices for trial, yet neither the 2nd DCA nor this Court saw fit to distinguish *Dashew* on this ground, nor did this Court limit its unqualified endorsement of *Sarasota Cattle* to notices for trial.

Similarly, *Lukowsky v. Hauser & Metsch, P.A.*, 677 So.2d 1383 (Fla. 3^d DCA 1996) holds that "whenever a dispositive motion is pending before the court, and the parties are awaiting the court's ruling on that motion, the duty to proceed rests squarely upon the court." 677 So.2d at 1384. Petitioners have acknowledged that the situation is murky as to exactly what occurred at the July 9, 2001 unrecorded hearing on the dispositive motions. However, at least in part, the respondents contributed to that murkiness by their non-compliance with Florida Rules of Civil Procedure 1.420(e) and 1.080(a) and petitioners' due process rights: (a) in failing to give proper notice in connection with the Summer 2002 LOP

dismissal proceedings, and (b) by their own vagueness in describing the thencurrent status of the case in their summer 2002 LOP motions. For jurisdictional purposes, *Dye, Lukowsky* and *Sarasota Cattle, supra,* create conflict with the lower court decision, as does the broad language by this court in *Fuester-Escalona, supra* and in *Mikos, supra.*

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court has and should accept discretionary jurisdiction herein, and should direct the filing of briefs on the merits.