IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

NOEL THOMAS PATTON, EVE M. PATTON, and EDWIN W. DEAN,

Petitioners,

vs.

CASE NO.:SC 05-667 L.T. NO: 5D03-1968

KERA TECHNOLOGY, INC., GEORGE CHENG-HAO HUANG, GABRIEL SIMON, and UNIDATA, INC.,

Respondents.

ANSWER BRIEF ON JURISDICTION OF RESPONDENT, GABRIEL SIMON

Respectfully submitted,

TODD M. HOEPKER, ESQ. Todd M. Hoepker, P.A. 390 North Orange Avenue Suite 1800 P.O. Box 3311 Orlando, Florida 32802 (407) 426-2060

PREFACE

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT4
I. THIS COURT LACKS DISCRETIONARY CONFLICT JURISDICTION UNDER ARTICLE V, §3(b)(3) OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION4
A. STANDARDS FOR THIS COURT -S JURISDICTION 4
B. THE FIFTH DISTRICT OPINION DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH OTHER APPELLATE DECISIONS
II. THIS COURT SHOULD EXERCISE ITS DISCRETION TO DECLINE REVIEW
CONCLUSION

. 9

CERTIFICATE OF	
SERVICE	

CERTIFICATE OF	
COMPLIANCE	10

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES <u>State Cases</u>

Barnett Bank of East Polk County v. Fleming,
508 So.2d 718 (Fla. 1987)7
Cole v. Dep't of Corrections,
726 So.2d 854 (Fla.4 th DCA 1999)7
Department of Health and Rehabilitation Services v. National Adoption Counseling,
Service, Inc.,
498 So.2d 888 (Fla. 1986)
Department of Revenue v. Johnston,
442 So. 2d 950 (Fla.
1983)5
Dye v. Security Pacific Financial Services, Inc.,
828 So.2d 1089 (Fla. 1 st DCA 2002)
6, 8
Fuster-Escalona v. Witsotsky,
781 So.2d 1063 (Fla.
2000)
Lukowsky v. Hauser & Metsch, P.A.,
677 So.2d 1383 (Fla. 3 rd DCA 1996)
Metropolitan Dade County v. Hall,
784 So.2d 1087 (Fla. 2001)
Mikos v. Sarasota Cattle Co.,
453 So.2d 402 (Fla.1984)
Modelliste de Europe (Corp.) y Pedpeth Inv. Corp.

Modellista de Europa (Corp.) v. Redpath Inv. Corp., 714 So.2d 1098 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998).

Moossun v. Orlando Regional Health Care, 826 So.2d 945 (Fla. 2002). Mystan Marine, Inc. vs. Harrington, 339 So. 2d 200 (Fla. National Enterprises, Inc. v. Foodtech Hialeah, Inc., 777 So.2d 1191 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2001) Reaves v. State, 485 So.2d 829 (Fla. 1986) Sarasota Cattle Co. v. Mikos, 431 So.2d 260 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983) Sewell Masonry Co. v. DCC Const., Inc., 862 So.2d 893(Fla. 5th DCA 2003)..... Times Publishing Co. v. Russell, 615 So. 2d 158 (Fla. 1993).....5 **CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS AND RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE**

9

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 8, 2003, the Trial Court entered an order dismissing the action below without prejudice for lack of prosecution pursuant to Rule 1.420(e), Fla.R.Civ.P. Petitioners' appealed and after oral argument, the Fifth District affirmed the Trial Court's dismissal order *per curium*. Petitioners filed a Motion for Clarification and Written Opinion. On February 18, 2005, **h**e Fifth District granted Petitioners' Motion and substituted a corrected opinion for its previous *per curium* affirmance. Petitioners then filed a Motion to Stay or Recall Mandate and Motion for Certification, relying upon the same cases referenced in their Amended Jurisdictional Brief. On March 17, 2005, the Fifth District denied Petitioners' request to stay and to certify conflict to this Court.

Petitioners have filed an Amended Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction, claiming that the Fifth District Opinion expressly conflicts with the United States and Florida constitutions and decisions of this Court and other courts of appeal.¹ This Answer Brief is filed in response to Petitioners' attempt to obtain discretionary review.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

SIMON objects to the inclusion in Petitioners' Jurisdictional Statement of the Facts

¹ Contemporaneously herewith, SIMON has filed a Motion to Strike Portions of Petitioners' Amended Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction, Jurisdictional Statement of the Case, Jurisdictional Statement of the Facts and Summary of Jurisdictional Argument, in which he argues, *inter alia*, that there is no conflict between the Fifth District Opinion and the federal and state constitutions.

of any facts which do not appear within the four corners of the Fifth District Opinion. <u>See</u> <u>Reaves v. State</u>, 485 So.2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986).² Because the only facts relevant to this Court's decision on conflict jurisdiction are those disclosed in the Fifth District Opinion, SIMON relies upon those facts as stated and found relevant by the Fifth District. In particular, the Fifth District noted that:

a) "No transcript of that hearing [the second hearing on Respondent's LOP Motions held on March 10, 2003] exists and the order does not explain the reason for dismissal." Opinion, p.1178

b) "Here, the record indicates that no activity occurred between July 9, 2001 and July 31, 2002, when Appellees initially filed the LOP motion." Opinion, p.1178

c) "Appellants were notified two weeks prior the second hearing, allowing them sufficient time to submit a timely response demonstrating good cause sufficient to avoid dismissal. Further, Appellants were provided with an opportunity to be heard during the second hearing. Although no transcript of the hearing exists, the parties' briefs agree that the trial court heard argument of counsel, concluded that Appellants failed to demonstrate good cause, and dismissed the action without prejudice. On these facts, extending the one year time period under rule 1.420(e) is unwarranted." (citation omitted) Opinion, p.1179

² In his Motion to Strike Portions of Petitioners' Amended Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction, Jurisdictional Statement of the Case, Jurisdictional Statement of the Facts and Summary of Jurisdictional Argument, SIMON requests, *inter alia*, that all facts not referenced in the Fifth District Opinion be stricken.

d) "Beyond October 7, 2001, no other communication between the parties exists in the record. Although Atlanta counsel may have been justified on relying on McCullough's initial report regarding the status of the case, their continued reliance without action or inquiry for nearly a year is unreasonable." Opinion, p.1180

e) "Appellants' surprise appears disingenuous, at best. A reasonably prudent attorney would likely recognize the risk of dismissal under these facts. When Appellants reviewed the record in 'late June 2002', the record indicated that no activity had occurred for eleven months, yet Appellants failed to file any document for nearly six months." Opinion, p.1180

 f) "Considering the totality of the circumstances in view of the limited record on appeal, the trial court's order does not constitute an abuse of discretion." Opinion, p.1180

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This case does not fall within the narrow class of cases invoking this Court=s jurisdiction. A decisional conflict under Art. V, (3)(b)(3), Fla. Const. requires that the decisions involve the same controlling facts and legal issues.

There is no conflict between the Fifth District Opinion and the other decisions cited by Petitioners. The Fifth District expressly found that there was no abuse of discretion by the Trial Court after an extensive recitation of the limited relevant facts in the record. The decisions are factually distinguishable and this Court and the district courts of appeal did not decide the same legal issues based on the same controlling facts. Petitioners have therefore failed to establish that this Court has discretionary jurisdiction.

Moreover, even if this Court finds some form of conflict sufficient to support jurisdiction, it should exercise its discretion to decline review. There is no reason to allow Petitioners yet another appeal. The decision below does not create new law and all future cases under Rule 1.420(e) will be decided on a case-by-case basis.

ARGUMENT

I. THIS COURT LACKS DISCRETIONARY CONFLICT JURISDICTION UNDER ARTICLE V, §3(b)(3) OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION

A. Standards For This Court=s Jurisdiction

The discretionary jurisdiction of this Court is extremely narrow. <u>Mystan Marine</u>, <u>Inc. vs. Harrington</u>, 339 So. 2d 200 (Fla. 1976). It extends solely to the classes referenced in Art. V, ' (3)(b)(3), Fla. Const. The only possible ground for discretionary jurisdiction in this case is a **A**...decision of a district court of appeal... that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law@. Article V, ' (3)(b)(3), Fla. Const.

The decision to be reviewed and the conflicting decision must address the same legal issues. <u>Times Publishing Co. v. Russell</u>, 615 So. 2d 158 (Fla. 1993). There is no jurisdiction if the facts of the case are distinguishable from those in the case alleged to be in conflict. <u>Department of Revenue v. Johnston</u>, 442 So. 2d 950 (Fla. 1983). Applying

these exacting standards to the cases cited by Petitioners, it is clear that they have failed to demonstrate the required conflict between the Fifth District Opinion and any decision of this Court and lower appellate courts.

B. The Fifth District Opinion Does Not Conflict With Other Appellate Decisions.

It is difficult to determine the alleged conflict relied upon by Petitioners. Noticeably absent from Petitioners' Amended Brief is any reference to the express language and holdings contained in the Fifth District Opinion. Instead, Petitioners improperly rely on a policy argument relating to Rule 1.420(e) in attempting to establish conflict jurisdiction. Given the absence of any substantive reference to the Fifth District Opinion, Petitioners appear to assert a conflict by implication. Implied conflict is no longer a basis for this Court's discretionary jurisdiction. <u>See Department of Health and Rehabilitation Services v. National Adoption Counseling Service, Inc.</u>, 498 So.2d 888 (Fla.1986).

Petitioners have not asserted and cannot assert an express and direct conflict between any appellate decision whatsoever and the Fifth District's rejection of Petitioners' assertions that the one-year "look-back" period should be extended and that the alleged misconduct of their Florida counsel constitutes good cause. The only conceivable basis for conflict is Petitioners' "unfinished business" argument. Petitioners appear to argue that because the Fifth District Opinion refers to <u>Sewell Masonry Co. v.</u> <u>DCC Const., Inc.</u>, 862 So.2d 893(Fla. 5th DCA 2003) and because <u>Sewell Masonry</u> allegedly conflicts with certain language in <u>Dye v. Security Pacific Financial Services</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 828 So.2d 1089 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002), <u>Fuster-Escalona v. Wisotsky</u>, 781 So.2d 1063 (Fla. 2001), <u>Lukowsky v. Hauser & Metsch, P.A.</u>, 677 So.2d 1383 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1996), <u>Mikos v. Sarasota Cattle Co.</u>, 453 So.2d 402 (Fla.1984), and <u>Sarasota Cattle Co. v.</u> <u>Mikos</u>, 431 So.2d 260 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983), there is a conflict over that portion of their appeal. Given the fact-intensive analysis and unequivocal holdings of the Fifth District, Petitioners' convoluted argument has absolutely no merit.

To successfully overturn the Trial Court's order dismissing this action for failure to prosecute, Petitioners had to demonstrate that the Trial Court abused its discretion. <u>Cole</u> <u>v. Dep't of Corrections</u>, 726 So.2d 854 (Fla.4th DCA 1999) . As the Fifth District Opinion makes abundantly clear, Petitioners failed to meet their burden with the limited record made in the Trial Court.

Rule 1.420(e), which mandates dismissal if there has been no record activity for one year and no good cause is shown, is "intended to ensure" that cases are "diligently prosecuted by the parties". <u>Moossun v. Orlando Regional Health Care</u>, 826 So.2d 945, 949 (Fla. 2002). Record activity has been defined as an affirmative act, contained in the court file, which is designed to move a case forward to conclusion. <u>Barnett Bank of East</u> <u>Polk County v. Fleming</u>, 508 So.2d 718, 720 (Fla. 1987). It is undisputed that there was no record activity for over one year prior to the filing of the LOP Motions by SIMON and the Other Respondents.

Petitioners had to demonstrate the existence of good cause for the undisputed lack of record activity five (5) days before the hearings on the LOP Motions. <u>Metropolitan</u> <u>Dade County v. Hall</u>, 784 So.2d 1087 (Fla. 2001). The demonstration of sufficient cause for failure to prosecute "requires some contact with the opposing party and some form of excusable neglect or occurrence which arose other than through negligence or intention to pleading deadlines." <u>National Enterprises, Inc. v. Foodtech Hialeah, Inc.</u>, 777 So.2d 1191, 1195 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2001), citing <u>Modellista de Europa (Corp.) v. Redpath Inv.</u> <u>Corp.</u>, 714 So.2d 1098, 1100 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998).

The limited record below contained no such evidence of good cause. There are no transcripts to discern what occurred at the second hearing on the LOP Motions held on March 10, 2003 or at the July 9, 2001 hearing on Respondents' motions to dismiss and strike. Petitioners therefore could not and did not establish as a factual matter that there was "unfinished business".

The Fifth District recognized the concept of a court's "unfinished business", but found that it was not applicable to the particular facts and circumstances in this case. Opinion, p. 1178. The Opinion contains an exhaustive analysis of the factual basis of Petitioners' arguments and the law construing Rule 1.420(e). The Fifth District focused squarely on the real issue of whether Petitioners satisfied their heavy burden of proving that the Trial Court committed an abuse of discretion. Emphasizing that "[a] reasonably prudent attorney would likely recognize the risk of dismissal under these facts," it specifically found that relief was not warranted. Opinion, p. 1180.

Petitioners reliance upon <u>Dye</u>, <u>Fuster-Escalona</u>, <u>Lukowsky</u>, <u>Mikos</u>, and <u>Sarasota</u> <u>Cattle</u> for conflict jurisdiction is entirely misplaced. The Fifth District Opinion does not even mention <u>Dye</u>, <u>Fuster-Escalona</u>, <u>Mikos</u>, or <u>Sarasota Cattle</u>. Petitioners requested that the Fifth District certify conflict with <u>Dye</u> and the other decisions to this Court, but their request was promptly denied. All of the appellate decisions are completely distinguishable because of the totality of the particular facts and circumstances recited in detail by the Fifth District. The decisions do not involve such facts and there were a myriad of reasons for the Fifth District's affirmance of the Trial Court's dismissal order unrelated to the purported "unfinished business". The cases therefore do not address the same legal or factual issues. As a result, the decisions are not inconsistent and there is absolutely no conflict for this Court to resolve.

II. THIS COURT SHOULD EXERCISE ITS DISCRETION TO DECLINE REVIEW

Assuming <u>arguendo</u> that this Court could find a conflict to support jurisdiction, it should exercise its discretion to decline review. No reason exists to allow Petitioners a second appeal. The Fifth District does not present a question of great public importance requiring further review by this Court. This case does not involve a previously unsettled issue of law nor does it create new law.

Petitioners' appeal was rejected because no abuse of discretion was shown

"considering the totality of the circumstances in view of the limited record on appeal." Future cases under Rule 1.420(e) will continue to be decided on a case-by-case basis. It is simply unnecessary to allow Petitioner yet another bite at the proverbial apple.

CONCLUSION

Petitioners have failed to establish the express and direct conflict required under Art. V, '(3)(b)(3), Fla. Const. Even if this Court finds some form of conflict to support jurisdiction, it should exercise its discretion and decline review of the Fifth District Opinion.